IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

JORGE GONZALES et al.,

Defendants and Appellants.

No. S234377

SUPREME COURT FILED

NOV 8 - 2016

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

Second Appellate District, Division Four, No. B255375 Los Angeles County Superior Court, No. YA076269 The Honorable Scott T. Millington, Judge

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Valerie G. Wass Attorney at Law State Bar No. 100445 vgwassatty@gmail.com 556 S. Fair Oaks Ave., Suite 9 Pasadena, CA 91105 (626) 797-1099

Counsel for Appellant ERICA MICHELLE ESTRADA By Appointment of the California Supreme Court

•			
₩.m. Jacob			
•

ISSUE PRESENTED

Was the trial court's failure to instruct on murder with malice aforethought, lesser included offenses of murder with malice aforethought, and defenses to murder with malice aforethought rendered harmless by the jury's finding of a felony-murder special circumstance?

INTRODUCTION

Appellants were charged with malice murder and a robbery-murder special circumstance. The only theory of murder on which the jury was instructed was first degree felony-murder. Appellants were convicted of first-degree felony murder with a robbery-murder special circumstance. Because the trial court erroneously failed to instruct the jury on first degree premeditated murder and the lesser included offenses supported by the evidence, the true finding on the only charged felony-murder special circumstance does not render harmless the trial court's instructional error.

The critical question at trial was whether appellants intended to commit a robbery, and there was substantial evidence that warranted instructing the jury on the lesser included offenses of second degree implied malice murder and involuntary manslaughter based on the commission of a felony not inherently dangerous to human life. If the jury had been instructed on the lesser included offenses it would have learned the difference between robbery and theft, and been required to determine whether appellants specifically intended to commit robbery or a lesser offense that is not a predicate offense for felony murder. Due to the absence of instructions on first degree premeditated murder and the lesser included offenses of malice murder, the jury was left with an unwarranted all-or-nothing choice between acquittal and convicting appellants of felony murder. Since the jury was not presented

with the factual questions posed by the omitted lesser included offense instructions, the trial court's erroneous failure to instruct on the lesser included offenses of malice murder was not rendered harmless by the true finding on the felony-murder special circumstance.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Erica Michelle Estrada and coappellants Alfonso Garcia and Jorge Gonzalez were each charged with one count of malice murder (Count 1 - Pen. Code § 187, subd. (a)), with a special circumstance that the murder was committed during the commission of a robbery (Pen. Code § 190.2, subd. (a)(17)). It was further alleged that a principal was armed with a firearm during the commission of the murder (§ 12022, subd. (a)(1)). Gonzalez was also charged with shooting at an occupied motor vehicle (Count 2 - § 246), and with various personal firearm use enhancements as to both counts (§ 12022.53, subds. (b), (c) and (d)). (3CT 456-459; 3SCT 456-459.)

Appellants were tried jointly by a single jury, and the prosecution proceeded solely on a theory of felony murder committing during the commission or attempted commission of a robbery. (See 8RT 5766.) On October 4, 2013, appellants were each found guilty of first degree felony murder committed in the perpetration of a robbery or attempted robbery, with a true finding on the robbery special circumstance. The jury returned a not true finding on the allegation that a principal was armed with a firearm. (4CT 644-645, 646-649; 9RT 7202-7205.) As to Gonzalez, the jury found all of the personal firearm use allegations to be not true as to Count 1, and it acquitted him of Count 2. (3SCT 644-647; 9RT 7203-7204.)

¹ All further statutory references are to the Penal Code.

On March 18, 2014, appellants were each sentenced to life without the possibility of parole. (4CT 698-705; 3SCT 673-676; 9RT 7546.) They appealed. (4CT 706-708; 3SCT 677.) In a published opinion filed on March 30, 2016, the judgment was affirmed by the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division Four.² On April 28, 2016, the Court of Appeal filed an order modifying the opinion with no change in the judgment. All appellants filed petitions for review. On July 13, 2016, this court granted review.

² The court also modified the abstracts of judgment to delete the parole revocation fines. (Slip opn. p. 33.)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Prosecution Case

Erica Estrada ("appellant") and Victor Rosales were friends with a casual nonexclusive sexual relationship. (3RT 2477, 2520-2523.) Rosales was a drug dealer who sold drugs to appellant at a discount and sometimes gave them to her. (3RT 2514, 2724; 8RT 5466-5467.) He resided with various family members including his mother Maria Murillo, and his sisters Mayra Gomez and Liliana Rosales ("Liliana"), in the rear house located at 3947 110th Street in Inglewood. (3RT 2475, 2501, 2517, 2746.)

Testimony of Anthony Kalac³

Mar 1

On October 6, 2009, Anthony Kalac went to the Inglewood home of Alfonso Garcia, aka Alf, to get high. (5RT 4010.) There he met Jennifer Araujo for the first time. (5RT 4012; 7RT 4936; 8RT 4552.) Kalac had used heroin before going to visit Garcia, and he used more heroin at Garcia's house. (5RT 4013-4014; 6RT 4366.) Kalac was a heroin addict, and Garcia was a methamphetamine user. (5RT 4011, 4015; 6RT 4361.)

Garcia said they were going to a hotel down the street to hang out with someone and get high. Kalac hid his heroin at Garcia's house, and between

³ Kalac asserted his Fifth Amendment privilege against self-incrimination, and he was granted use immunity for his trial testimony. (5RT 3934-3935, 4003-4004.) He had previously been granted immunity for his preliminary hearing testimony. (6RT 4361.)

10:00 and 11:00 a.m. Garcia, Araujo, and Kalac walked to the Crystal Inn. Garcia knocked on the door of a second floor room. (5RT 4016-4017; 7RT 4815.) Jorge Gonzales, aka Sharkie, answered the door, and the trio entered the room. Appellant was also in the room. Kalac had not previously met Gonzalez or appellant, and Garcia told him appellant was Gonzalez's girlfriend. (5RT 4018; 6RT 4251-4524.)

Kalac sat down on the couch and overheard Garcia tell Gonzalez, "Let's pack a bolt," which refers to putting meth in a pipe to smoke. (6RT 4254-4256.) Gonzalez replied, "We don't have any." (6RT 4256.) The group sat around and watched television. Kalac heard Garcia, Gonzalez and appellant talking and trying to figure out how they could obtain some methamphetamine. (6RT 4257-4258.)

After about 15 minutes Kalac used his cell phone to call his drug dealer, and Garcia spoke to the dealer in Spanish and arranged for Kalac to meet his dealer at a gas station to buy some heroin. (6RT 4259-4260.) Kalac had \$35. He went to the gas station and waited a couple of minutes. His dealer did not show up so he got a drink and snack and returned to the hotel room. (6RT 4260.) There was conversation about money, and Kalac believed "there was no money in the room." (6RT 4261; 7RT 4866, 4875-4876.)

Appellant said she had someone they could "come up on," which according to Kalac, means "to rob." (6RT 4261-4262.) Gonzalez was talking

on the phone, and when he ended his call he began talking to Garcia about "going ahead with the come up," and they talked about robbing the man referred to by appellant. Kalac could not recall the details of the conversation. (6RT 4264; 7RT 4834, 4841-4842.) He did not understand the portion of the conversation that was in Spanish. (6RT 4268, 4270.) Appellant said the man was a drug dealer and an ex-boyfriend who had physically abused her, and Gonzalez seemed to be a bit agitated. (6RT 4265-4266.) Garcia, Gonzalez and appellant agreed to order \$150 of meth and \$50 of heroin. Appellant asked Kalac for the money he had because she needed it for a room at a nearby hotel. Gonzalez and appellant told Kalac the dealer also sold heroin, and they would give him whatever heroin they got from the robbery. Kalac gave appellant about \$28 or \$29. (6RT 4266-4267, 4377; 7RT 4822, 4835, 4843, 4866.)

After telling everyone to be quiet, appellant made a phone call and spoke primarily in Spanish. The only portions of the phone conversation Kalac understood were "30 minutes," "across the street at the laundromat" or "corner of 112th and Prairie," and that appellant was going to be meeting the guy. (6RT 4270-4272; 7RT 4823-4824, 4840.) Kalac heard Garcia say he was going to be a lookout for the robbery, and Gonzalez and Garcia walked out of

the room. (6RT 4272-4273, 4411-4412; 7RT 4844, 4882-4883.)

Appellant immediately started packing up the room because they were going to move to a cheaper hotel. (6RT 4275.) She made a phone call to find out the "dealer's" arrival time, then said he would be there in 10 to 15 minutes. (6RT 4275-4276.) Kalac and Araujo helped appellant bring her bags down to her older black Cadillac. (6RT 4277.) A friend of Garcia's came by on his bike, looking to give Garcia money for some meth. (6RT 4372-4374.) Appellant, Kalac and Araujo got in the car, and appellant drove for eight to 10 minutes in a circular route before arriving at the American Inn, which was four to five buildings south of the Crystal Inn. (6RT 4277-4278, 4378-4379.)

Araujo and Kalac waited in the car while appellant registered for a room, and when appellant returned three to five minutes later the trio brought all of the bags into a hotel room. (6RT 4278, 4378-4379.) Appellant received a phone call and told her caller she would be there in two minutes. Three to eight minutes after entering the room appellant and Araujo left. (6RT 4278-4279, 4402-4403.)

Kalac went to look for Gonzalez and Garcia. (6RT 4279, 4379.) He did not see the Cadillac at that time. (6RT 4279.) Kalac walked out of the hotel driveway, headed south on the west side of the sidewalk on Prairie, and

⁴ During the preliminary hearing Kalac testified Garcia said he was going to be a look-out for a drug transaction. (See 6RT 4412-4413; 7RT 4845.)

saw Gonzalez and Garcia walking quickly on the east sidewalk of Prairie by the laundromat. (6RT 4280-4281, 4379-4380.) He did not see appellant. (6RT 4381.) Garcia split off from Gonzalez and crossed the street directly towards Kalac, while Gonzalez proceeded north. (6RT 4281.) Garcia told Kalac to hurry up so he could get back to the American Inn. Kalac asked what happened, and Garcia, who appeared to be very nervous, replied, "Shit went bad." (6RT 4282.) Kalac and Garcia walked back to the hotel room, Garcia quickly changed his clothes, and the two men left and began walking to Garcia's house. (*Ibid.*) As they walked down 112th and Prairie there was a lot of police activity. Garcia did not talk about the incident. (6RT 4283.) Kalac retrieved his heroin at Garcia's house and then he left to go home. (6RT 4283, 4420.)

Other Testimony About The Events of October 6, 2009

On October 6, 2009, following a one night stay, appellant checked out of room 232 at the Crystal Inn located at 11163 South Prairie Avenue in Inglewood. (4RT 3322-3325, 3341; Exh. 38.) She then registered for a room at the American Inn and Suites located at 11025 South Prairie. (5RT 3987-3990; Exh. 63.) Records show that \$51 of the \$58 room charge was paid. (7RT 5139.)

Around 1:00 p.m. Rosales called Alejandro Ruiz and asked for a ride.

Ruiz picked up Rosales around 2:16 p.m., and Rosales said he had received a

call from his girlfriend - appellant - who wanted to meet him for lunch, and they agreed to meet at the laundromat at the corner of Prairie and 112th Street. As Ruiz was driving westbound on 112th Street approaching Prairie, Rosales told him to park along the curb. He began to park and noticed a gray Nissan Altima traveling westbound. It passed him, then parked in front of him, and a small collision occurred between the two cars. Ruiz saw appellant accompanied by two male Hispanics walk from behind two large palm trees. When appellant was on the sidewalk she pointed out Rosales, and one of the male Hispanics walked up to the passenger door of Ruiz's vehicle, produced a small chrome semi-automatic handgun, and from a distance of three feet fired a single shot. (3RT 2792-2793; 4RT 3032, 3054.) The shooter then walked around the car and attempted to pull Ruiz out of the driver's seat, but Ruiz accelerated and drove westbound on 112th Street. (3RT 2793.)

Liliana was at home that afternoon, and after she got into her van to drive to work a car driven by Ruiz pulled into the driveway directly behind her van. (3RT 2479-2482, 2493.) Ruiz turned off his car, exited, and told Liliana her brother had been shot. (3RT 2482-2483.) Liliana ran over to Ruiz's car, saw Rosales was hurt, and asked who had hurt him. Ruiz responded, "Erica, Erica." (3RT 2484.) Liliana yelled out for her neighbors to call 9-1-1. She ran into the house to find her mother, told her Rosales had been hurt, then they both ran towards Rosales. (3RT 2485, 2507.) Gomez also ran outside. (3RT

2527, 2705.) With the help of some neighbors they were able to get Rosales out of the passenger side of the car. (3RT 2489, 2507, 2509, 2526-2527, 2708-2709.) Liliana saw Rosales had been shot in his stomach area. (3RT 2490.) Murillo heard people asking, "Who was it?" Ruiz, who was "in despair" responded in Spanish, "the girlfriend, the girlfriend." (3RT 2508-2509, 2512-2514, 2707.) Gomez heard Ruiz say in Spanish, "It was Erica." (3RT 2706.)

Around 2:37 p.m. Inglewood police officers received a radio call about a shooting victim in the area of 110th and Doty. Officers began arriving at 2:40 p.m. (3RT 2738-2739, 2743-2744.) Rosales was laying on his back in the driveway of 3749 West 110th Street next to a Oldsmobile Alero, with some people around him. He was gasping for air, his breathing was shallow, and he had a single gunshot wound to his upper right chest. (3RT 2749-2751, 2788-2789; 4RT 3061-3062.) Paramedics arrived, treated Rosales, and transported him to the trauma center at Harbor-UCLA. (3RT 2490-2491, 2510-2511, 2753-2754, 2789.) Rosales later died at the hospital. (3RT 2754-2755.)

Once the paramedics took over at the scene, Ruiz, who appeared to be in shock, told Officer Fernando Vasquez he had witnessed the shooting. (3RT 2789.) After obtaining Ruiz's statement Vasquez conducted a patdown search of Ruiz, but found no weapons. He then took Ruiz to the corner of Prairie and 112th. (4RT 3016-3017.)

Gomez volunteered to take the police to appellant's residence because she did not know appellant's exact address. (3RT 2711.) She rode with the officers and directed them to 12536 Truro in Hawthorne. (3RT 2712-2713, 2774-4777, 2780, 2782.)

The Apprehension of Appellants

At 7:14 p.m. on the day of the shooting, appellant and Gonzalez were arrested outside appellant's home. (3RT 2797-2798, 2799; 4RT 3018, 3064-3065.) Gonzalez had 25 cents on his person at the time he was booked. (5RT 3912-3913.) A gunshot residue test was performed on Gonzalez, and the sample was positive. (3RT 2800-2802; 4RT 3018-3022, 3044-3045, 3048-3049; 5RT 3623-3624, 3627.) Appellant was also given a gunshot residue test, but no particles were detected. (4RT 3023-3026, 3065, 3067, 3070; 5RT 3613, 3619-3623.)

On December 17, 2009, Garcia was arrested at a residence in Inglewood after he attempted to flee from officers when they arrived with an arrest warrant. (5RT 3992, 3996.)

Investigation of the Shooting

Police recovered Rosales's cell phone between the center console and passenger side seat of Ruiz's vehicle, and a .22 caliber shell casing was recovered from the passenger floorboard. (4RT 3123-3114, 3122; 5RT 3955, 3968; 7RT 4930-4934, 5112.)

An autopsy of Rosales was conducted on October 8, 2009. The medical examiner concluded the cause of death was a gunshot wound to the right side of the chest. (5RT 3648-3648, 3653.) A .22 caliber bullet was recovered from Rosales's left back. (5RT 3659, 3954-3955.) Rosales had stippling on his right hand and wrist which indicate the firearm was discharged within two feet the victim. (5RT 3649, 3655.) Toxicology tests were positive for methamphetamine and amphetamine. (5RT 3656.) The handgun used in the shooting was not recovered. (8RT 5431.)

Homicide Detective Kevin Lane saw Gonzalez on the day of the shooting and did not notice any injuries or stippling on him. (7RT 4927-4928.) During his investigation of the case Lane drove in a circular route from the Crystal Inn to the American Inn, and at 2:00 p.m. the drive took 3 minutes, 44 seconds. (7RT 5104, 5106.) At 8:00 a.m. the same route took him five minutes and five seconds. (7RT 5127.) According to Lane it takes about 30 seconds to drive from the American Inn to corner of 112th and Prairie, and two to three minutes to walk that distance. (7RT 5105.) A drive from Rosales's home to the location where the shooting occurred takes about two minutes. (7RT 5140.)

Lane obtained surveillance video footage of the Crystal Inn from October 6, 2009. (Exh. 39; 4RT 3320, 3325-3330; 7RT 5110.) For the period on the video time-stamped 14:06:27 to 14:07:08, an individual is seen walking

towards Prairie. Around 14:07:08, an individual is seen walking across the walkway of the motel. (4RT 3336.) From 14:17:11 to 14:21:28, multiple individuals are shown entering a vehicle and then leaving a parking stall of the hotel. (4RT 3338.)

According to records from Verizon Wireless, between 2:12:12 and 2:28 p.m. on October, 6, 2009, two phone calls were made from Garcia's phone to Rosales's phone, and three calls were made from Garcia's phone to Araujo's phone. Garcia's phone also received one call from Rosales's phone and two calls from appellant's phone. The cell towers that picked up the signal from Garcia's phone were located approximately within one mile of 112th Street and Prairie Avenue, with a range between half a mile to a mile and a half. (4RT 3353, 3355, 3357, 3359, 3364-3371, 3374, 3378-3380; 5RT 3928; 7RT 4930-4940, 5102-5105; Exhs. 40, 41.) No calls were made to or from Garcia's phone from 2:28 p.m. to 2:37 p.m. (4RT 3371-3372.)

On October 22, 2009, appellant telephoned her aunt, and the call was recorded by the jail inmate telephone monitoring system. (6RT 4290; 7RT 5109, 5127.) During the call appellant said she had used Jennifer's [Araujo's] cell phone to call Rosales, but said she "called private." (Exh. 69 - 4CT 540-541.)

Testimony of Stephanie San Angelo

Stephanie San Angelo previously dated Kalac for several years and

they lived together intermittently, but she could not recall if they were dating in 2009. (7RT 4891-4892, 4910.) Within a week after the shooting San Angelo heard things about the incident. (7RT 4892-4893, 4904.) After speaking to Kalac's friend "Kevin," she spoke to Kalac about the incident. (7RT 4893-4894.)

On February 1, 2010, San Angelo went to the Inglewood Police Department and reported to Detective Michael Han what she had learned. (7RT 4892-4894, 4913-4914, 4920.) She told Han the following: Kalac said he had gone to buy dope with "Alf" and another male and female were present; they intended to jack somebody - the girl's boyfriend or ex-boyfriend or father of her child; they contacted him, he came out, they went down to meet him while Kalac stayed in the room, and either the two guys or the two guys and the female "went down tried to jack him," but the guy was not giving up and either tried to run or drive away, and they shot at him and hit him. (7RT 4895-4896, 4911-4912.) She also said the driver of the vehicle was shot and the passenger tried to drive away. (7RT 4911.) San Angelo did not know how Kalac found out about the shooting. She asked Kalac if he had walked past the dead body and not said anything, and Kalac replied, "Yeah, I didn't care about it. I cared about my dope." (7RT 4896.) Kalac's response bothered her so much she went to the police. (7RT 4909.)

San Angelo did not recall Kalac telling her anything about getting a

gun. She heard someone had given Kalac the gun to dispose of, but she had no idea regarding the identity of that individual. (7RT 4906.)

Han's Testimony About His Conversation With San Angelo

On February 1, 2010, Han spoke to an "anonymous informant" regarding the Rosales homicide. Han was not a homicide detective, so he sent an e-mail to several homicide detectives about his conversation. (7RT 4914-4916, 4919.) The e-mail stated the informant learned about the incident from Kalac; Kalac talked about a robbery of a drug dealer; "Alf" or "Ralph" was the mastermind of the robbery; around October of 2009 that individual, Kalac, another male, and a female executed the drug dealer who was in a car in the area of Prairie and 113th Street; and afterwards "Ralph" gave the gun to Kalac for disposal purposes. (7RT 4920-4921.)

After sending the e-mail Han made some handwritten notes. (7RT 4921-4922.) He had taken down the name "Stephanie" and a 310 phone number with an address of 4475 141st Street in Hawthorne, but he had not included that information in his e-mail. (7RT 4923-4924.)

Additional Testimony of Kalac

Kalac denied seeing a gun any time on the day of the shooting. (6RT 4357, 4408, 4413; 7RT 4833-4834.) He also denied hearing anyone mention a gun when he was at the Crystal Inn. (6RT 4414; 7RT 4834.)

On March 3, 2010, Kalac met with Detective Lane at the station and

gave a statement about the incident. (6RT 4284.) He may have made some assumptions when giving his statement. (7RT 4836.) Kalac had learned from Araujo that Gonzalez and appellant were under arrest and charged in the case. (7RT 4866-4867.) He had stopped using drugs a couple of months after the shooting. (7RT 4867, 4876.)

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