In the Supreme Court of the State of California

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

V.

JORGE GONZALEZ, et al.,

Defendants and Appellants.

Case No. S234377

SUPREME COURT FILED

FEB 1 5 2017

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

CRC

8.25(b)

Second Appellate District, Case No. B255375 Los Angeles County Superior Court, Case No. YA076269 The Honorable Scott T. Millington, Judge

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

Under prior case law, People v. Modesto (1963) 59 Cal.2d 722, 730-731, error in failing to give lesser included offense instructions warranted by the evidence was considered necessarily prejudicial. However, this Court has determined that "experience during the decade since *Modesto* has demonstrated that adherence to that rule is neither necessary to assure defendants their right to jury consideration of all material issues presented by the evidence nor required to avoid prejudice." (People v. Sedeno, supra, 10 Cal.3d at pp. 720-721.) The Sedeno Court therefore held that, where "the factual question posed by the omitted instruction was necessarily resolved adversely to the defendant under other, properly given instructions ... the issue should not be deemed to have been removed from the jury's consideration since it has been resolved in another context, and there can be no prejudice to the defendant since the evidence that would support a finding that only the lesser offense was committed has been rejected by the jury." (Id. at p. 721.) Over 20 years later, the Court disapproved of Sedeno's "standard of near-automatic reversal for this form of error." (People v. Breverman, supra, 19 Cal.4th at p. 149.) Instead, the Court held, an error in failing to instruct on lesser included offenses warranted by the evidence is one of state law only, and is therefore subject to the state law standard for determining prejudice set forth in the California Constitution. (Ibid.) Under this standard, the failure to give lesser included offense instructions is harmless unless an examination of the entire record, including the evidence, demonstrates that it is reasonably probable the

defendant would have achieved a more favorable result had the instructions been given. (*Ibid.*; *People v. Watson* (1956) 46 Cal.2d 818, 836.)

Despite Breverman's statement that error in failing to instruct on lesser included offenses is to be reviewed "exclusively" under Watson (Breverman, supra, 19 Cal.4th at p. 178), this Court has continued to find harmless error in this context where the Sedeno rule is met (i.e., the jury resolved the factual question posed by the omitted instructions adversely to the defendant under other, properly given instructions), without reference to Watson or engaging in an analysis of whether it is reasonably probable the defendant would have achieved a more favorable result had the instructions been given. (E.g., People v. Horning, supra, 34 Cal.4th at p. 906; People v. Lewis (2001) 25 Cal.4th 610, 646; see also People v. Prince (2007) 40 Cal.4th 1179, 1267-1268 [finding any error in failing to instruct on second degree murder harmless because evidence in support of such theory was "insubstantial" so it was not reasonably probable the absence of the instructions affected the outcome, and, separately, because the jury's special-circumstance findings negated a finding of second degree murder]; People v. Beames (2007) 40 Cal.4th 907, 928-930 [jury's true finding on torture-murder special circumstance rendered harmless under Sedeno any error in failing to instruct on lesser included offenses, and separately, any error in failing to instruct on second degree unpremeditated murder with express malice was harmless under Breverman and Watson in light of the evidence].) Implicit in this approach is the recognition that where the Sedeno rule is met, the Watson standard will necessarily be satisfied. (See People v. Covarrubias (2016) 1 Cal.5th 838, 898-899 [where the jury resolved the factual question posed by the omitted language adversely to defendant, it was not reasonably probable defendant would have achieved a more favorable result had the instruction been modified to include the language].) Indeed, the Court has held that where the Sedeno rule is met,

佐から近からとは大きな書をあて いちい

the instructional error is harmless "under any standard of prejudice." (*People v. Wright* (2006) 40 Cal.4th 81, 98-99; *People v. Castaneda*, *supra*, 51 Cal.4th at p. 1328 [jury's felony-murder special-circumstance finding rendered any error in failing to instruct on second degree murder harmless beyond a reasonable doubt].)

Consistent with Breverman and Sedeno, this Court has repeatedly held that the error in failing to instruct on lesser included offenses to malice murder is harmless where the jury's true finding on a felony-murder special circumstance demonstrates that it adversely resolved the factual issue posed by such instructions. (E.g., People v. Castaneda, supra, 51 Cal.4th at p. 1328; People v. Lancaster (2007) 41 Cal.4th 50, 85-86; People v. Prince, supra, 40 Cal.4th at p. 1268; People v. Elliot, supra, 37 Cal.4th at p. 476; People v. Horning, supra, 34 Cal.4th at p. 906; People v. Koontz, supra, 27 Cal.4th at pp. 1086-1087; People v. Seaton (2001) 26 Cal.4th 598, 665; People v. Lewis, supra, 25 Cal.4th at p. 646; People v. Earp, supra, 20 Cal.4th at pp. 885-886; *People v. Price* (1991) 1 Cal.4th 324, 464.) Moreover, this Court has applied the Sedeno rule in other contexts where a warranted instruction was omitted, even where the Court declined to determine whether such error was subject to Watson or the beyond-areasonable-doubt harmless error standard for federal constitutional errors set forth in Chapman v. California (1967) 386 U.S. 18, 24 [87 S.Ct. 824, 17 L.Ed.2d 705]. (E.g., People v. Jones (2013) 57 Cal.4th 899, 966 [error in failing to instruct on definition of malice aforethought as part of malice murder instructions was "necessarily harmless under any standard" in light of jury's true finding on felony-murder special circumstance]; People v. Wright, supra, 40 Cal.4th at pp. 98-99 [declining to decide whether Watson or *Chapman* applies to error in failing to instruct on an affirmative defense, as any error was harmless under either standard because the Sedeno rule was met].) Accordingly, any error in failing to give the instructions at issue in this case is necessarily harmless if the jury resolved the factual questions posed by the omitted instructions adversely to appellants under other proper instructions. Appellants' attempts to identify other harmless error standards are unavailing.

Relying on *People v. Campbell*, supra, 233 Cal.App.4th at page 167, Garcia argues that even if a jury's determination of the factual issue presented by an omitted instruction demonstrates that it resolved the issue adversely to the defendant, this fact is not determinative, but merely relevant to a harmless error analysis under *Watson*. However, as Respondent has explained, under *Breverman*, supra, 19 Cal.4th at p. 149, the Watson test remains the ultimate harmless error standard, but because the Sedeno standard is more stringent than Watson, the latter test need be applied only if recourse to Sedeno does not resolve the question. In proposing this alternative standard, the Campbell court misapplied language from People v. Flood (1998) 18 Cal.4th 470: "In People v. Flood . . . the Supreme Court explained that Sedeno should not be read as 'delineat[ing] circumstances in which such instructional error categorically may be deemed harmless'; rather, the prejudicial effect of such instructional error under California law must ultimately be determined under the Watson test." (Campbell, supra, 233 Cal.App.4th at p. 167, quoting People v. Flood, 18 Cal.4th at p. 490; see also Campbell, supra, at p. 167 ["In light of Flood and Breverman, it is clear that while a jury's determination on a factual issue under other instructions is relevant to determining whether an instructional error is harmless, it does not *categorically* establish that the error was harmless; the court must still determine whether, based on an examination of the entire record, it is reasonably probable that the error affected the outcome."].)

However, the *Campbell* court took the quoted language from *Flood* out of context; the actual language in *Flood* does not stand for the

proposition advocated by the *Campbell* court. *Flood* addressed the harmless error standard to be applied to instructional errors that effectively remove an element of a crime from the jury's consideration. The Court pointed out that prior decisions had held that the failure to instruct on an element of a crime was reversible per se, unless the *Sedeno* rule or one of a limited number of other exceptions was met. (*Flood*, *supra*, 18 Cal.4th at pp. 482-486.) Application of *Sedeno* and other exceptions, the *Flood* Court explained, meant that the reviewing court "is engaging in a type of harmless error analysis that is entirely inconsistent with a rule of automatic reversal." (*Id.* at p. 490.) To eliminate that inconsistency, the Court held:

Rather than perpetuating an ostensible reversible-per-se rule that is riddled with exceptions meant to delineate circumstances in which such instructional error categorically may be deemed harmless—a rule that is fundamentally inconsistent with the language and purpose of the specific California constitutional harmless error provision embodied in article VI, section 13, of the California Constitution—we hold . . . that the prejudicial effect of such error is to be determined, for purposes of California law, under the generally applicable prejudicial error test embodied in article VI, section 13.

(Ibid., citing Watson, supra, 46 Cal.2d at pp. 836-837.)

Thus, Flood did not undermine the Sedeno test as a means for assessing harmless error arising out of the failure to instruct fully on the elements of charged offenses. Instead, Flood removed any residual doubt as to whether the failure to instruct on an element of a crime should be considered as reversible per se, and emphasized that reversible error must be assessed underthe Watson standard. As explained, however, the Court has since employed the Sedeno rule to find instructional error harmless without engaging in a typical Watson-related weighing of the evidence,

because where the *Sedeno* rule is met, the error is necessarily harmless under *Watson*. In other words, once it is determined that the jury resolved the factual issue posed by the omitted instruction adversely to the defendant, there is simply no need to examine the record further for a reasonable probability as to what the jury would have done if given the omitted instruction. The jury's verdicts and findings *necessarily demonstrate* what it would have done.

2. The Failure to Instruct on Malice Murder, Its Lesser Offenses, And Its Defenses Is Not Structural And Does Not Involve the Federal Constitution

Gonzalez erroneously asserts that the failure to instruct the jury on both malice murder and felony murder violates federal due process guarantees. More specifically, he argues that because malice murder and felony murder are theories of the same offense of first degree murder under section 187, "the only reasonable conclusion is that a trial court has a federal constitutional sua sponte obligation to fully instruct on all the elements of both 'theories,' as well as on lesser-included offenses and defenses to malice murder which are supported by the evidence." (JGAOB 29-39.) He further contends that the failure to give these instructions was structural error because the court thereby "removed those issues and legal alternatives for conviction from the case" such that there is "no meaningful basis" or "object" upon which a harmless error analysis could operate, and any harmless error analysis would necessarily be based on conjecture. (JGAOB 41-47.) These arguments fly in the face of this Court's longstanding decisions, and find no support in federal Supreme Court authority.

First, Gonzalez does not explain how the sua sponte obligation to instruct on malice murder and its lesser included offenses and defenses derives from the federal Constitution. In fact, this Court has held that the

obligation to instruct on lesser included offenses derives solely from state law, and the erroneous failure to give such instructions is not structural error, but is subject to the California standard for assessing prejudice. (People v. Breverman, supra, 19 Cal.4th at p. 176 ["error in failing sua sponte to instruct, or to instruct fully, on a lesser included offense is not a fundamental structural defect in the mechanism of the criminal proceeding"]; see also id. at pp. 165, 168-173.) Moreover, the Court has held that the Sedeno rule applies to error in failure to fully instruct on malice murder. (People v. Jones, supra, 57 Cal.4th at p. 966.) And although this Court has declined to decide whether the failure to instruct on an affirmative defense violates the federal Constitution (*People v. Salas* (2006) 37 Cal.4th 967, 984), it has held that such error is subject to harmless error analysis, and may be deemed harmless where the Sedeno rule is met. (People v. Wright, supra, 40 Cal.4th at pp. 98-99; see People v. Stewart (1976) 16 Cal.3d 133, 141.) This Court has thus made clear that the type of instructional errors at issue in this case are not structural. Appellant Gonzalez offers no good reason for this Court to reconsider, much less repudiate, its precedent.

Further, the United States Supreme Court has never held that the failure to instruct on an alternative theory of an offense, an affirmative defense, or a lesser included offense in a noncapital case involves any federal constitutional right, much less constitutes structural error. (People

⁵ Keeble v. United States (193) 412 U.S. 205 [93 S.Ct. 1993, 36 L.Ed.2d 844], is not to the contrary. (See JGAOB 48-49.) There, the Supreme Court held that a federal noncapital defendant was entitled to an instruction on a lesser included offense "if the evidence would permit a jury rationally to find him guilty of the lesser offense and acquit him of the greater." (Keeble, supra, 412 U.S. at p. 208.) That holding, however, was based on the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, not on any constitutional requirement. (Ibid.)

v. Breverman, supra, 19 Cal.4th at p. 165-170 [The Supreme Court's "decisions leave substantial doubt that the federal Constitution confers any right to lesser included offense instructions in noncapital cases. They provide no basis whatever for a conclusion that the federal charter would require such instructions, as does California," and "this court has explicitly recognized that the California rule requiring sua sponte instructions on lesser included offenses suggested by the evidence is independent of federal law."]; see Gilmore v. Taylor (1993) 508 U.S. 333, 343-344 [113 S.Ct. 2112, 124 L.Ed.2d 306] [reiterating the rule that instructional errors of state law generally do not state a claim under the federal Constitution, and rejecting a claim that "the right to present a defense includes the right to have the jury consider it, and that confusing instructions on state law which prevent a jury from considering an affirmative defense therefore violate due process"]; see also Windham v. Merkle (9th Cir. 1998) 163 F.3d 1092, 1106 [failure of a state trial court to instruct on lesser included offenses in a noncapital case does not present a federal constitutional question].) Indeed, the omission of these types of instructions is exactly the type of trial error that lends itself to harmless error analysis. (See *United States v. Marcus* (2010) 560 U.S. 258, 263 [130 S.Ct. 2159, 176 L.Ed.2d 1012] ["structural errors' are 'a very limited class' of errors that affect the "framework within which the trial proceeds"]; People v. Mendoza (2016) 62 Cal.4th 856, 900 [reciting United States Supreme Court precedent that "[o]nly "a very limited class of errors" is considered structural and requires automatic reversal," and "[s]uch errors 'defy analysis by "harmless-error" standards"].) The "object" upon which such harmless analysis may be based includes the jury's verdicts and findings. Engaging in harmless error analysis under Sedeno in this situation does not involve speculation; it involves an objective examination of the factual issues presented by the

omitted instructions, the issues presented by the instructions actually given, and the jury's resulting verdicts and findings.

- B. By Finding the Robbery-Murder Special-Circumstance Allegation True as to All Appellants, the Jury Necessarily And Adversely Resolved the Factual Questions Posed by the Omitted Instructions
 - 1. Under Sedeno, Any Error Here Was Harmless

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